My Dear Alumni and Alumnae:

You are aware certainly of the breathtaking award of $500,000,000 made by the Ford Foundation to the nation's colleges and hospitals. The University of Dayton received $406,600, for which it is sincerely grateful.

The basis for the grant in each college's case was the approximate total of salaries paid in 1954-1955 to the teachers of the Liberal Arts Colleges. The total cost of salaries to the University of Dayton far exceeds the above figure because of our College of Engineering and the large number of laymen in the administration of the University. The Ford Foundation grant to the University generously included an allowance for the contributed services of our religious faculty (priests, brothers, and sisters).

The University of Dayton has continually increased the salaries of its teachers over the past years. The latest schedule of salaries announced early in 1955 compares favorably to and in some cases exceeds the salary schedules of universities of our size and enrollment. It will be our ambition to continue to better the financial condition of our teachers. The magnificent grant from the Ford Foundation will help in the achievement of this ambition. However, since tuition charges do not cover the cost of education we shall be forced to rely upon the generous gifts of our alumni, alumnas, parents, friends, and industries to meet the expenses of current operations and enable us to procure for our students the highest quality in our teaching personnel.

Since the beginning of organized giving among our alumni, the annual total contributions have been very gratifying. We feel confident that you, the alumni and alumnae, understand the University's position and that you will continue to give us your support materially and spiritually.

We take this occasion to express again our sincerest thanks to the Ford Foundation for their splendid and stimulating grant to the University of Dayton.

Sincerely yours,

V. Reverend Andrew L. Seebold, S. M., President
Fund Campaign Will Be Held During May Under Chairmanship of H. W. Gillaugh

Selection of H. W. Gillaugh, president of the Third National Bank & Trust Company of Dayton, as general chairman of a $2,500,000 public subscription campaign to be conducted during the month of May, has been announced by Samuel L. Finn, chairman of the University's Associate Board of Lay Trustees.

Funds secured in the campaign will be used for the immediate construction of a new Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Building, and a new Science Building.

As previously announced, building plans for the new Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Building are complete and assurance has been given that ground will be broken for this structure as quickly as sufficient funds are in hand to underwrite its cost.

Announcement of definite plans for the building fund campaign automatically will accelerate the completion of working plans for the new Science Building, to cost approximately $1,100,000.

Announcement of the Building Fund Campaign Chairman will be received with no small amount of interest and enthusiasm by thousands of alumni of the University who have been aware of the urgent need for physical facilities on the University campus to sustain the high scholastic standards of the University.

Mr. Gillaugh was selected for the important role of campaign chairman by the unanimous vote of Mr. Finn's campaign executive committee comprised of S. C. Allyn, president of the National Cash Register Co.; Clarence H. Gosiger, president of the C. H. Gosiger Machinery Company; David L. Rike, president of the Rike-Kumler Company; Robert Oelman, executive vice president of the National Cash Register Company; John D. O'Brien, general manager of Inland Manufacturing Division of General Motors Corporation; M. A. Spayd, president of the Standard Register Company and Kenneth C. Long, president of the Dayton Power & Light Company.

Known by his associates as one who instinctively does things the thorough way, Mr. Gillaugh, better known as "Whitey" will bring to the chairmanship of the University's building fund campaign a rich backlog of contacts and experience in business and finance as well as an enviable reputation for real accomplishments in civic affairs. His leadership, directly and indirectly, to major community projects would be too numerous to review in the space limitations of this article.

Mr. Gillaugh will surround himself with specialists in the various media of public information in order that the full impact of the University's critical need for the facilities of the two proposed buildings will be felt not only by the Alumni of the University but by business interests who are financially able to throw support to an independent educational institution.

Asked whether he would have any special comment to direct to the Alumni of the University of Dayton, Mr. Gillaugh urged that friends of the University who have been waiting so long for a definite program of campus improvement and expansion stretch their indulgence a few weeks longer until a definite pattern is evolved.

"Very shortly we shall be in position to place into the hands of every alumnus of the University of Dayton our plan for securing the two and a half million dollars needed so urgently", Mr. Gillaugh commented.

"I consider the chairmanship of the University of Dayton Building Fund campaign a compliment and it goes without saying that I will give my best. I go into the campaign with a very warm feeling for its acceptance. I am confident every business executive today is cognizant of the vital role the independent college plays in our American way of life. With this kind of understanding it is reasonable to assume that every corporation will do its utmost to find a place in its budget for the support of this appeal. And needless to say we look to the alumni of the University, who have first-hand information on the urgency of the situation and the worthiness of the appeal, to receive our plan enthusiastically and generously."

H. W. GILLAUGH

Campaign Committees Are Announced

Several committees have been organized to assist the general chairman, Mr. Gillaugh, with the various aspects of the campaign. These committees, listed below, have been formed principally from the membership of the Associate Board of Lay Trustees.

The committees are as follows:

- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a division of industrial corporation gifts. The members are Louis F. Polk, M. A. Spayd, L. L. Warriner, George E. Walther, Sr., Mason M. Roberts and John D. O'Brien.
- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a division on mercantile corporation gifts. The members are Kenneth C. Long and J. J. Leff.
- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a division on individual special gifts and memorial gifts. Members of this group are George H. Mead, Carl Lange, William Kun tz, Harry F. Finke, Sr., Dr. Carroll Hochwalt and Samuel L. Finn.

- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a general solicitation division. Members are Robert Renner, William P. Sherman and Dr. Walter Reiling.
- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a division on out-of-town alumni. Members of this committee, both alumni themselves, are Judge Edwin G. Becker and Merle P. Smith.
- A committee to stand by to assist the general chairman in organizing a division on public information. Members are Dwight Young and James M. Cox, Jr.
- A committee to stand by to assist the chairman in securing a campaign treasurer and in setting up a campaign auditing system. Committee members are Walter H. J. Behm, Bro. Jerome A. MeAvoy, SM, and Bro. Elmer C. Lackner, SM.
UD Must Be Prepared For “Crisis In Education”

By The Very Rev. Andrew L. Seebold, SM
President of the University

Approximately ten years ago the universities and colleges of this nation were overwhelmed by the G. I. Bulge—veterans returning from the armed services and rightfully making use of a government financed opportunity of beginning or completing their higher education. The institutions of higher learning were taken by surprise. Every effort was put forth to meet the emergency and meet it they did. There were many things to be desired in both faculties and facilities, but the students were satisfied and the colleges could salve their consciences by the fact that they were taken by surprise.

In less than another ten years a similar avalanche of increased student enrollment will threaten our institutions of higher learning, their teaching staffs and their physical facilities. However, this time nothing will excuse unpreparedness because we have been forewarned.

In my address to you at the Homecoming Day banquet in 1953, I had occasion to outline to you the program prepared by the University of Dayton’s planning committee to meet the tidal increase of students in 1970. I described to you the ten year program of expansion planned for the university—a program that would cost approximately $5,500,000.

During the past two years the Associate Board of Lay Trustees of the university has studied this contemplated expansion of physical facilities. Realizing that sum was practically impossible of attainment in a single fund raising campaign, the board recommended that we campaign for half the sum thus procuring half of the physical facilities. Realizing that sum was practically impossible of attainment in a single fund raising campaign, the board recommended that we campaign for half the sum thus procuring half of the physical facilities.

Further discussion led the board to limit itself to only the facilities it thought absolutely necessary and without which the university could not begin to meet an increased enrollment. Finally, the fund raising campaign was set to meet the erection of two new buildings—the Chemistry and Chemical Engineering Bldg. and the Science Bldg.—at a cost of $2,500,000. A professional fund raising organization is at present setting up the machinery for our campaign, which will be presented to the public during spring of this present year.

During one hundred and six years the University of Dayton has given service to higher education, particularly to the metropolitan area of Dayton. During all this time, the university in its various stages of growth was able to meet, financially and otherwise, its own problems. Only once was there an appeal to the public in 1947-1950 when, in answer to public demand, the University of Dayton Fieldhouse was built.

Today we view with great concern the picture of future enrollment at the university. Predicted figures place the enrollment at 4,600 day students and 3,000 night students by 1960. With the increase already taking place, this figure will be reached by September, 1959. Our present total enrollment is 5,065 students—2,855 day students and 2,210 evening students.

Our appeal in this fund raising campaign is to the City of Dayton and to our local and out-of-town alumni and alumnae. The University of Dayton is the only local institution of higher learning. The City of Dayton has profited by a century of service to the community. It has profited particularly in that over sixty per cent of its high school graduates, who have gone to college, were able to register at home at the University of Dayton. The City of Dayton has profited further in that it has not been obliged to tax its citizens to the extent of building, maintaining and staffing a municipal college or university. The University of Dayton has served in this capacity since its inception as an institution of higher learning. Catholic in its origin and in its philosophy of education it has never discriminated against anyone because of race, color or creed.

Our Associate Board of Lay Trustees, all of them outstanding civic and industrial leaders of the City of Dayton have espoused our cause and have pledged themselves and the city to come to our aid. Naturally, they have asked, “What are your alumni going to do in this campaign?” We explained to them what you have done during these past years in your alumni contributions to the University. Your record of giving is comparable in local and out-of-town alumni and alumnae, over a certain period of years, will contribute a fair share of the campaign goal.

Besides physical facilities we will need an increase of faculty in number and in quality. The recent magnificent grant of $406,500 from the Ford Foundation to the University of Dayton will help enable us to increase the salaries of our faculty and to keep the quality and the efficiency of our staff members at the highest level.

In the crisis that confronts higher education today, the state and tax-supported institutions are appealing to private institutions to do their all to accommodate the increasing enrollment. If the private institutions fail, the state institutions will be obliged to take over entirely with higher taxation and with an enrollment beyond the competence of proper educational standards and techniques. Higher education may become mere “mass baby sitting” as we see it already in the lower forms of education.

Private institutions cannot meet this challenge alone. They have raised tuition to such a peak that they are almost out-pricing higher education. To meet the present and future needs, private institutions must rely on the generous giving of industries, of alumni and alumnae and of special donations of foundation grants and of private philanthropy.

As president of your Alma Mater I invite you to take upon that responsibility of meeting this crisis in higher education and of making possible to the younger generation, through your contributions, the blushing of a developed and perfected personality, individually and socially, at a time when our crying need is for leaders “for God and for country.”

MASON BENNER HEADS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

Closely associated with the forthcoming fund campaign is Mason C. Benner, who was appointed in September as the university’s Development Director.

Mason isn’t new to the campus or to Dayton. A native Daytonian, he’s a member of the class of 1932 and some years ago served as relief director in Montgomery County and later as assistant to the director of the Dayton Community Chest.

His most recent position, before returning to UD, was as executive director of the United Community Services in Omaha, Nebr.

Mason is associated with the public relations department at UD. His office is in Liberty Hall.
Why TWO Buildings?

By The Rev. Henry J. Kobe, SM
Dean of the University

The flood of students is on the rise. Predictions after World War II set the peak at the mid-60's. Present studies indicate that the crest will come sooner and that it will be higher than first thought. The University of Dayton, with other educational institutions, stands in the way of the current. We ask ourselves whether it will stand up when the impact hits, whether it will be overwhelmed, whether it will barely survive, whether it will be able to assume its share of the common shock. Any of these is a possibility. It is the last of these which must come true if the university is to have a future.

Since 1946 facilities have been expanded on the campus. In view of the need, this expansion has been on a modest scale. Material resources must be forthcoming from sources outside the university if the necessary further expansion is to take place. Without such resources, the university will not have been able only to dream and to hope.

The dream has been entrusted especially to the Planning and Commit­tee. To perform its function, such a committee must weigh the past and the present and must attempt to pierce the future. To determine to the best of its limited ability what can be done at the university as it now stands, what must be done if the university is to grow. The basis of all the committee must be the desires of a particular group or of some special department, but the welfare of the university as a whole and the greatest good of all should be its goal.

Proceeding according to this norm, the committee determined five years ago that the next building project should be in the fields of Science, specifically a Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. and a Science Bldg. This judgment was based on several factors. It is commonly accepted as true that all the chemical sciences possess perhaps the greatest potential of all the sciences in their influence on the personal living of mankind. Their effect on our health, on our comfort, our safety, our housing has already become felt. Their future possibilities seem without limit. A second consideration is the need which our country is experiencing in the scientific and technological fields to maintain its world position in this cold war era. All responsible parties decry the lack of scientific and engineering personnel. The third factor is a negative one, that our chemistry department and chemical engineering department lack accreditation by the American Chemical Society and the Engineers' Council for Professional Development, respectively.

The chemical engineering department is the oldest engineering section on the campus. The department offers service courses for all engineering students, for all science students, and for a goodly number of education students who wish to prepare themselves for science teaching fields. Lack of accreditation is a hardship imposed on these students. Because the University of Dayton is not accredited, students may be refused admittance to other universities for graduate work toward masters and doctors degrees. Even where they are accepted, eligibility in many cases, for scholarships or fellowships, is frequently not available. Frequently they are not eligible for membership in professional societies which mean so much to their future careers. In some states, graduates of the chemical engineering department cannot obtain licenses as professional engineers.

The committee determined five years ago that it would be expedient to erect a Science Bldg. to house the biology, home economics, mathematics, physics and psychology departments. These plans, too, are in an advanced stage toward completion. The Science Division is made up of the biology, chemistry, geology, home economics, mathematics, medical technology, nursing and physics departments. All students in these departments, in addition to all engineering students, follow courses in chemistry. But chemistry is only one phase of their general studies. Their respective programs call for courses in the sciences of their specialization as well as in other branches like religion and philosophy, English, sociology, psychology, economics, etc. Providing suitable and additional space for chemistry aggravates rather than solves problems already existing in other departments. The biology, home economics and physics departments are now operating to the full extent of their presently limited facilities. During this semester approximately 450 students are following courses in freshman chemistry. Practically all of these must follow the sophomore course in physics next year. About 450 students are registered at the present time for sophomore physics. The physics department is operating from 8 a.m. to 10 p.m. Allowing for mortality, the 450 in freshman chemistry may be reduced to perhaps 350 for the physics course of next year. What sort of a schedule can we work out for the physics department for next year is still a puzzle. The same story obtains in the biology and home economics departments.

The Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. without the Science Bldg. would be like expecting the human body to permit one hand to grow while the other remains the same. The two hands are linked together. If the capacity of one is increased, the capacity of the other must also increase. If we increase the number of students taking chemistry by adding facilities for only that, where will the increased number of pre-med students take their biology, where will physics majors and all other students follow their physics courses? The facilities are just not available.

It must be remembered too that pressure is greater in the other divisions of Arts, Business Administration, Education, Engineering and the Technical Institute. Possibility for growth in these divisions will be realized only by having both the Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. and the Science Bldg. They would relieve the total situation because the science classes and laboratories are now located in temporary barracks type of buildings erected in 1947 with surplus materials. As such these facilities are not suitable for their present purpose and it is highly questionable whether they would be suitable for any other academic purpose.

Plans for the proposed Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. are virtually completed. If funds were available, construction could begin as an early date. While this proposed building would be a notable addition to the university, it alone would not satisfy coming needs. Therefore plans were begun for a Science Bldg. to house the biology, home economics, mathematics, physics and psychology departments. These plans, too, are in an advanced stage toward completion. The Science Division is made up of the biology, chemistry, geology, home economics, mathematics, medical technology, nursing and physics departments. All students in these departments, in addition to all engineering students, follow courses in chemistry. But chemistry is only one phase of their general studies. Their respective programs call for courses in the sciences of their specialization as well as in other branches like religion and philosophy, English, sociology, psychology, economics, etc. Providing suitable and additional space for chemistry aggravates rather than solves problems already existing in other departments. The biology, home economics and physics departments are now operating to the full extent of their presently limited facilities. During this semester approximately 450 students are following courses in freshman chemistry. Practically all of these must follow the sophomore course in physics next year. About 450 students are registered at the present time for sophomore physics. The physics department is operating from 8 a.m. to 10 p.m. Allowing for mortality, the 450 in freshman chemistry may be reduced to perhaps 350 for the physics course of next year. What sort of a schedule can we work out for the physics department for next year is still a puzzle. The same story obtains in the biology and home economics departments.

By the Rev. Henry J. Kobe, SM
Bud Kerr Takes Over Football Coaching Post

The University of Dayton's fourth head football coach in 34 years, an enviable record in the tumultuous collegiate athletic world, is a product of Rip Van Winkle territory whose career has been anything but sleepy or hollow.

William (Bud) Kerr, born in Tarrytown, N.Y., was an All-American end at Notre Dame in 1939. He was graduated from the Irish stronghold with a bachelor of science degree in physical education in 1940.

After two seasons as head coach at Goshen High in Indiana he became end coach at Washington University of St. Louis in 1942. From 1943 to 1945 he served in the Navy.

He assisted Rex Enright as end coach at Georgia Pre-Flight in '43; was an instructor in Navy V-5 at Wooster College in '44 and was on the carrier Cowpens shelling the Jap coast in '45.

In March '46 Kerr was discharged with the rank of full lieutenant and that fall played end for the professional Los Angeles Dons of the All-American League.

Coach Kerr gives a few football tips to his family. Left to right are: Coral, 9; Sheila, 14; Kimberly, 6 and Mrs. Mildred Kerr. —Photo courtesy Associated Press and Dayton Daily News.

Flyers' Card For '56 May Raise U.D. To "Major" Football Status

For the second straight year the University of Dayton has announced a step-up in its football schedule and this one may raise the Flyers to classification as a major college.

(The NCAB and Football Writers Association of America each year divide the nation's colleges in major and small college classifications. Supposedly playing more than half its games against teams in the major category entitles a school to major classification.)

The 10-game schedule announced by Harry Baujan, athletic director, lists six teams in the major classification.

A five-game home card is exceptionally attractive despite the absence of the three backyard rivals, Cincinnati, Xavier and Miami. All three of the latter will be met on their home fields.

A brand-new visitor to U. D. Stadium will be the Wolfpack of North Carolina State. Also coming to town are the Titans of the University of Detroit, Villanova, Wichita University and powerful Mississippi Southern.

The Titans defeated the Flyers 7-0 in 1928 and 18-0 in 1929, the last time the schools met. Dayton holds a 2-1 advantage in the series with the Shockers of Wichita whom they last played in 1946.

Besides the three backyard rivals the others road games are with Holy Cross and Louisville. The only teams on the schedule not classified as major are three powerhouses, Miami, Xavier, and Mississippi Southern, and Louisville.

The complete schedule follows:

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Date</th>
<th>Opponent</th>
<th>Location</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>September 22</td>
<td>at the University of Cincinnati</td>
<td>(night)</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>September 30</td>
<td>Holy Cross at Worcester, Mass.</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>October 6</td>
<td>Mississippi Southern (night)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>October 13</td>
<td>Villanova (night)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>October 20</td>
<td>North Carolina State (night)</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>October 27</td>
<td>at Xavier University</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>November 3</td>
<td>at Louisville</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>November 10</td>
<td>at Miami of Ohio</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>November 17</td>
<td>Wichita University</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>November 24</td>
<td>University of Detroit</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
It's Shamrocks And Basketballs With Flyers Tourney Bound

This is the month of shamrocks.

But Tommy Blackburn's Flyers aren't counting on Ireland's favorite symbol or a four-leaf clover either in seeking their first NIT championship.

Dayton's hopes ride with a "pentagonal offense".

And while the Flyers' five-pointed attack is in itself a single unit that pulsates like a brilliant neon star, the power plants manning the individual points vary from game to game.

The Flyers received plenty of help from the bench this season.

So once again it's tournament time. In fact, including the 1950-51 season the Flyers have been in a post-season tournament in all but one season. In '51 it was the NIT; in '52 the NIT and NCAA; in '54 the NIT and in '55 the NIT.

Dayton has already won one major tournament this season—the University of Kentucky Invitational. The Flyers defeated previously unbeaten Utah the first night; then came back to whip host Kentucky in the title game and bring home the nation's largest basketball tourney trophy along with a check for $10,600-plus for two nights' work.

That tourney, probably more than anything else, vaulted the Flyers to high ranking, even No. 1 in the nation in Dick Dunkel's power index, for most of the season.

It was Dayton's "pentagonal offense" that carried the Flyers on the road back towards the top. An outstanding display of teamwork with individuals' taking turns being top scorers.

Billy Uhl, the seven-foot Goliath, was the center. In the beginning Capt. Jimmy (Power Tower) Paxson and Jim Palmer were the forwards with Ray Dieringer and Arlen Bockhorn at the guards.

As the season moved along other individuals began to take their place in the limelight. Al Sicking, he of the scoring touch, became the best No. 2 center in the nation. Carmen Riaazi helped pull several games out of the fire and Jack McCarthy displayed amazing poise for a sophomore.

Finally Bill Almashy began to find the range with his deadly pushshot. Although briefly, Bob Fiely, Bob Jacoby, Dick Bogengrife and Don Lane have had their moments.

—and now the Flyers are tournament bound.

Post-season titles have eluded them thus far—and in their quest for championship honors the Flyers will not, in this month of shamrocks, depend on good luck tokens such as a four-leaf clover, but, rather, will place their hopes in a "pentagonal offense."
Two Ohioans Slated To Lead Dayton Football Team For 1956 Season

A pair of Ohioans from opposite ends of the state will lead the University of Dayton 1956 football team. Billy (the Blur) Smith, 160-pound halfback from Hamilton, O., in the southwestern corner of the Buckeye state, and Jerry Ward, rugged 224-pound guard from Cleveland, O., at the top of the state, were named by a vote of squad members as the Flyer co-captains for next season.

Ward, already drafted by the Washington Redskins and honorable mention on the INS All-American, is one of the finest linemen in Flyer history. Smith, workhorse of the Flyer backfield and outstanding on defense despite his lack of size, received the Dayton Most Valuable Player award for his performance this past season.

Smith is the second junior in history of the trophy to win the coveted award. The other lad who won the honor as a junior was Jimmy Currin, Dayton's great pass-catching end of the 1940 Salad Bowl team.

Smith is an Army veteran and both he and Ward are married.

Athletic Board Gets Permanent Member

Mr. Mayl is a past president of the local alumni chapter and has served the athletic board for almost a quarter of a century.

The current athletic board is comprised of Father Collins, chairman; Harry Baujan, U.D. athletic director; Bro. William Bellmer; Bro. Jerome McAvoy; Bro. William Wohlleben; Jim Finke; Jim Hanby; Louis Mahrt; Dr. G. J. Rau; Lee Schmidt; James Wall and Jack Zimmermann.

Former U. D. Grid Star Writes History In Jet

Something to think about:
The nation's wires carried the story, complete with art, "U.S. Navy Commander Ralph L. Werner today became the first man ever to land a jet plane aboard a supercarrier.

"He brought his FJ-3 North American Fury jet to a smooth-as-silk landing on the vast deck of the 60,000-ton supercarrier Forrestal while thousands of Navy colleagues held their breaths and a photographer in a Navy blimp recorded the scene for posterity."

From the column of Si Burick, sports editor of the Dayton Daily News, came a follow-up report: "Except for football, it is extremely doubtful if the flying commander would be the distinguished Navy career man he now is . . . Werner was given his chance to make a good name in the world because the University of Dayton gave him an athletic scholarship."

(Picture on Page 18)

"Pesky" Werner was a star end for Stivers High of Dayton and later for Harry Baujan as a member of the University of Dayton football Flyers.

The athletic scholarship has been much maligned. Undoubtedly there are abuses, but there are hundreds of cases like that of Cmdr. Werner that never came to light because they are the positive approach—it's the negative approach that always draws the headlines.

Just consider for a moment the good that came of this one athletic scholarship—the benefit to a boy, a coach, a team, a school, a family, a Navy, a nation.

Pro Football Draft Drops Net Over Four From U.D.

Four From U.D.

Shanen Is Named To National Honorary History Fraternity

Allen Shanen, the Flyers' fine guard, linebacker and defensive signal caller, has shown his talents aren't confined to the gridiron.

The U.D. junior was one of eight U.D. students initiated into Delta Eta, the university's chapter of Phi Alpha Theta, national honorary history fraternity.

Shanen, a junior, is the first member of the Flyer football or basketball teams to fulfill the rigid scholastic requirements for membership since the chapter was established in 1951.

Ordinarily less than one per cent of the student body qualifies for the organization according to Wilfred J. Steiner, head of the U.D. history department.

Requirements include a "B" average in specified number of history and related courses of instruction. Membership is for life.

John Grogan is a choice of Eagles

The recent National Football League draft shows the professional clubs are keeping a wary eye on the University of Dayton personnel. Four Flyers have been claimed by pro teams.

Jack Muldowney, co-captain and tackle of the '55 club, was claimed last year by the Los Angeles Rams. When the pro teams met in January to continue a draft started last November, the first choice of the New York Giants was Jimmy Katcavage, left end and co-captain with Muldowney.

Katcavage has signed a contract with the Giants.

The Washington Redskins latched on to Jerry Ward, 224-pound guard who will co-captain the Flyers next fall, and John Grogan, 228-pound right tackle, was picked up by the Philadelphia Eagles.
Wholehearted Alumni Support Will Insure Success In Development Fund Campaign

University of Dayton alumni soon will be called upon to give all-out support to their alma mater in the campaign for funds to erect the Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. and the Science Bldg.

The need for these two buildings, as explained fully elsewhere in THE ALUMNUS, is great. If the university is to continue the progress which it has enjoyed in past years, we must have these two buildings.

This campaign, with its goal of two and a half million dollars, is the largest such campaign ever undertaken by the university. Success in the drive will depend to a large extent on the cooperation we are sure our alumni will give.

The campaign is in the professional hands of the public relations and fund raising team of Miriam Rosenthal and I. E. Migliaccio who maintain their executive offices in the Dayton Biltmore Hotel. Miss Rosenthal and Mr. Migliaccio enjoy high distinction in their field for personalized management. Among their most recent successes is the five and one half million dollar fund raised in Colorado Springs, Colo., for the erection of a new hospital to replace the historic Glockner-Penrose hospital.

In the very near future, our alumni will receive more complete information on the various aspects of the campaign. We will discuss the individual parts to be played by alumni and we will keep the alumni completely informed on the progress of the campaign.

In the meantime, won't you please take the time to fill in and mail the coupon on the back cover of THE ALUMNUS in order that we may know we can count on you?

BRO. ELMER C. LACKNER, SM, ALUMNI DIRECTOR

Coeds Reign At Cleveland Dance

Queen and attendants for the annual Christmas Ball of the Cleveland chapter of the alumni association were chosen from Cleveland area coeds at UD. Left to right are Adelaide DiFino, '58, Queen Edna Ermey, '58, and Margie Yemec, '59.

Note of Appreciation

Mary Shay, alumni secretary, wishes to take this opportunity to express her sincere appreciation as well as that of members of the Shay family for the kind expressions of sympathy received during their recent bereavement.
At a historic meeting in the UD faculty dining room Jan. 14, attended by members of the Associate Board of Lay Trustees, the Administrative Council and other friends of the university, the decision was reached and made official that the university would seek $2,500,000 in a spring campaign for the purpose of erecting a chemistry-chemical engineering building and a science building, shown below. Standing, left to right, in the group are Bro. Elmer C. Lackner, SM, William Kuntz, Mason M. Roberts, J. J. Leff, Bro. Jerome A. McAvoy, SM, Bro. Joseph J. Mervar, SM, M. A. Spayd, Robert S. Oelman, Father Henry J. Kabe, SM, Dr. Walter Reiling, Dwight Young, Merle P. Smith, Bro. Louis J. Faerber, SM, Bro. Austin J. Holian, SM, Walter H. J. Behm and Father Edwin J. Leimkuhler, SM. Seated, left to right, are Mason C. Benner, Kenneth C. Long, Clarence H. Gosiger, Stanley C. Allyn, Father Andrew L. Seebold, SM, Samuel L. Finn, Harry F. Finke, Sr., and William P. Sherman.
Rear view of proposed buildings. Stewart street is in foreground.
The Associate Board of Lay Trustees

They Help Guide U.D. . . .

Helping guide the University of Dayton into the future is a group of outstanding citizens comprising the Associate Board of Lay Trustees. First organized in 1924 by the late Very Rev. Bernard F. O'Reilly, SM, then president of the university, the board held its first meeting Jan. 10, 1925. At that meeting, the late William A. Keyes was named president of the board, Hugh E. Wall was elected treasurer and the late Martin C. Kuntz, secretary.

The board now consists of twenty-four members, twenty-two of whom are members by appointment of the president of the university. The remaining three are members of the Society of Mary; namely, the president of the university, the provincial superior of the Cincinnati province of the Society, and a business officer of the university.

Each lay member holds office for six years and may be reappointed. Officers, elected by the members, serve two-year terms.

Purpose of the board, as outlined in a statement on its organization, "shall be to receive reports on the progress and plans of the university, to advise with the president on these and other matters of general policy and on the relations of the university with the local and national community ...."

The board will play an integral role in the forthcoming fund campaign, each member serving on a specific committee with the chairman of the drive.

In order that the university's alumni may become better acquainted with this board, following is a brief sketch of each member.

SAMUEL L. FINN: Dayton attorney (Estabrook, Finn and McKee) . . . played important role in the inauguration of U.D.'s evening classes program in 1922 . . . former president of Dayton Community Chest, former director of American Red Cross and Dayton Chamber of Commerce . . . currently director of a number of Dayton firms . . . president of the associate board of lay trustees . . .

DAVID L. RIKE: President of Rike-Kumler Co., Dayton . . . alumnus of Princeton and Harvard School of Business Administration . . . "Retailer of Year" in 1984 . . . chairman of board, Associated Merchandising Corp. . . . trustee of Miami Valley Hospital, Antioch College, Dayton Art Institute, Kroger Co., Dayton Chamber of Commerce . . . vice president of the associate board .

MERLE P. SMITH: General manager, Joyce Criddle Co., Dayton . . . UD alumnus, class of 1925 . . . former Professor of English and journalism, alumni secretary, director of public relations at UD . . . reorganized alumni association . . . former City Commissioner . . . first vice president, Dayton Chamber of Commerce . . . two children, Charlotte and Mark, both UD grads . . . is secretary of the associate board .

WALTER H. J. BEHM: President of Winters National Bank and Trust Co., Dayton, since 1936 . . . graduate of Miami Jacobs Business College, American Institute of Banking . . . board of directors, Dayton Chamber of Commerce, Dayton Art Institute . . . highly active in community chest and host of other community affairs . . . is treasurer of associate board .

STANLEY C. ALLYN: President and director of National Cash Register Co. . . . University of Wisconsin, class of 1913 . . . honorary degree, Doctor of Humanities, UD, 1954 . . . began at NCR in 1913 . . . board of directors, Armco Steel, McCall Corporation, Mead Corporation, two railroads, others . . . one of "Fifty Foremost Business Leaders of America," in Forbes magazine . . . immediate past president of associate board .

EDWIN G. BECKER: Cincinnati attorney (Becker and Leob) . . . alumnus of UD, 1912 . . . honorary Doctor of Laws degree, UD, 1939 . . . member, Cincinnati Board of Education . . . former judge in common pleas court, Cincinnati . . . active in UD centennial observance, 1949-50 . . . delivered UD commencement address in 1947 . . . member American Judicature Society .

JAMES M. COX, JR.; President, director, Evening News Publishing Co. (Dayton Daily News); president, director, Journal Herald Publishing Co. . . . president and director, Station WHIO, Dayton, Springfield (O.) Newspapers, Inc. . . . director, Atlanta (Ga.) Newspapers, Inc., Miami (Fla.) Daily News, Inc. . . . vice president, director, Station WIOD, Miami, Fla . . . member of board, Associated Press .

VERY REV. JOHN A. ELBERT, SM: Provincial superior of Cincinnati province of Society of Mary since 1948 . . . president, Trinity College, Sioux City, Iowa, 1932-1938 . . . president of UD, 1938-44 . . . entered Society of Mary, 1911 . . . ordained, 1926 . . . member, Gallery of Living Catholic Authors . . . native of Brooklyn, N. Y . . .

HARRY F. FINKE, SR.: President of Finke Engineering Co., Dayton . . . member of original group of lay trustees in 1924 . . . UD alumnus, 1902, and honorary award of civil engineer from UD, 1918 . . . donor of $12,000 Harry F. Finke, Sr. Scholarship Fund, 1954 . . . five children are alumni; Harry, Jr., Mary Ann, John, Janet, Robert J. . . . sixth child, Sue, now attending UD . . .

CLARENCE H. GOSIGER: Founder and president of the C. H. Gosiger Machinery Co. in Dayton . . . began business in 1922 . . . president of firm since 1936 . . . native of Cincinnati . . . worked during World War I with old Dayton-Wright Airplane Co. . . . active in number of civic organizations . . . director, Dayton Power and Light Co. . . .

DR. CARROLL A. HOCHWALT: Vice president, member of board of directors and executive committee of Monsanto Chemical Co. . . . UD grad, class of 1920 . . . honorary Doctor of Science, UD, 1935 . . . active in many professional societies . . . co-organizer of old Thomas and Hochwalt Laboratories in Dayton, now part of Monsanto . . . resides in Ladue, Mo. . . .

MERLE P. SMITH
Secretary

SAMUEL L. FINN
President

DAVID L. RIKE
Vice President

WALTER H. J. BEHM
Treasurer
KENNETH C. LONG: President and general manager, Dayton Power and Light Co. ... played end on world champion "St. Mary's Cadets" ... active in fund-raising for UD fieldhouse ... has made many contributions in power and light field ... pioneer in application of electric heating in industry ... honorary degree, Master of Industry, Purdue, 1942 ...

BRO. JEROME A. McAVOY, SM: Controller of the university since 1950 ... native of Tipton, Ind. ... BA from UD in 1936, accounting ... master of education, University of Pittsburgh ... professed first vows in Society of Mary in 1932 ... first came to UD staff in 1937 as faculty manager of athletics ... served as UD business manager from 1947 ...

GEORGE H. MEAD: Honorary chairman of board, Mead Paper Co. ... in paper business since youth ... Hobart College, 1897; Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 1900 ... active in government affairs ... former chairman of business advisory council, Department of Commerce ... has served on number of national boards ... honorary degree from UD, 1953 ...

ROBERT S. OELMAN: Executive vice president and director, National Cash Register Co. ... Dartmouth College, class of 1931 ... president of Dartmouth College alumni association ... with NCR since 1933 ... director, Winters National Bank and Trust Co. ... vice president and director, National Association of Manufacturers ... active in civic affairs ...

LOUIS F. POLK: President of Sheffield Corporation, Dayton, since 1941, chairman of board since 1947 ... chairman of Sheffield Corporation of Australia ... holds numerous patents on gages, precision instruments, machine tools ... member and director of financial, civic, professional, industrial organizations ...

DR. WALTER A. REILING: Prominent Dayton surgeon ... UD prep school, 1928, bachelor of science, UD, 1930 ... MD from Harvard, cum laude ... former president, Montgomery County Chapter, UD alumni association ... first physician to become president of Optimist International (1953) ... senior surgeon, St. Elizabeth, Good Samaritan hospitals ... chief of staff, Good Samaritan, 1952 ...

MASON M. ROBERTS: General manager, Frigidaire division, General Motors, since 1948, vice president of corporation since 1950 ... Citizen's Legion of Honor award, 1952; "Dayton's most distinguished citizen of year" ... principal speaker, dedication of UD fieldhouse, 1950 ... trustee, Wil- mington College, Miami Valley Hospital, Ohio Foundation of Independent Colleges ...

VERY REV. ANDREW L. SEEbold, SM: President of University of Dayton since 1953 ... president of Cathedral Latin School, Cleveland, 1947-53 ... sixteenth president of UD ... native of Louisville, Ky. ... ordained to priesthood in Fribourg, Switzerland, 1934 ... graduated from UD in 1924 ... has taught in many Society of Mary institutions ...

M. A. SPayD: President of Standard Register Co. since 1944 ... graduate of Ohio State University ... conducted community-wide campaign for UD in 1936 which resulted in increased registration, improved public relations ... active in fund-raising for fieldhouse ... former director of several civic organizations ... native of Van Wert, O. ... began at Standard in 1933 ...

GEORGE E. WALTHER, SR.: President of Dayton Steel Foundry Co. ... founded firm in 1905 ... now employs 1,100 persons ... director of Winters National Bank and Trust Co. ... active in Rotary Club, American Society of Automotive Engineers, St. Johns Masonic Lodge, First Lutheran Church ...

L. L. WARRINER: President and general manager of Master Electric Co., Dayton, since 1941 ... native of New York City ... graduate of Pratt Institute of Science and Technology, 1917 ... director, Cooper-Bessemer Corp., Mt. Vernon, O., Winters National Bank and Trust Co., Sheffield Corp., Monarch Machine Tool Co., Sidney, O. ...

Dwight Young: Editor and publisher, Dayton Journal Herald ... attended James Milliken University, Decatur, Ill. ... came to Dayton as editorial writer for old Dayton Herald, 1918 ... editor and publisher since 1949 ... former president and board member, American Society of Newspaper Editors ... Award of Merit, Milliken University, June, 1965 ...
IN MEMORIAM

THOMAS A. HAGAN, '18

GERALD F. MCKINNEY, '10

MRS. ANNA GLASER

MRS. ELLIS FINKE
Mother of Margaret Finke Brenner, ’48, and sister of Hugh Wall, Sr., ’84. Died Nov. 14.

ROBERT F. HECK
Father of Robert Heck, ’52. Died Nov. 18.

ALOYSIUS J. UNGER, '16
A salesman for Central Motor Sales in Dayton, died near Celina, Dec. 27.

CHRISTOPHER C. LARKIN
Brother of Edward Larkin, ’96. Died Sept. 6 in Phoenix, Ariz.

JOSEPH DREETY
Father of Meyer H. Dreety, ’34. Died Nov. 19.

EDWARD M. MILLER, '94

REV. JOHN G. GRAVES, SM, ’34
Native Daytonian who entered the Society of Mary in 1931 and was ordained in 1943. Had taught at UD summer school during 1940’s. Died Jan. 11 in Santa Cruz, Calif.

WILLIAM KEYES, ’99
Owner of the Victory Theater, president of the Schwind Realty Co. and former member and president of the Associate Board of Lay Trustees. Died Nov. 27.

MRS. BARBARA GATES

MRS. LENA LAUTERBACH
Mother of Dr. Leo Lauterbach, ’24. Buried in Dayton Jan. 4.

MRS. ANNIE MUMPOWER
Mother of Glen E. Mumpower, ’49. Died Jan. 21 in Dayton.

JOSEPH P. WESTENDORF
Father of Walter J. (HS ’14), Eugene, ’41, and Jerome, ’45. Died in Dayton Jan. 25.

Bro. J. Albert Wehrle Passes Away Dec. 27

Faculty, students and the many UD alumni who studied under his direction were saddened shortly after Christmas to hear of the death of Bro. J. Albert Wehrle, a member of the UD faculty almost continuously since 1920.

Bro. Wehrle, 67, had been dean of engineering from 1948 to 1953. Poor health forced his retirement in that year. It was while he was dean that the engineering college was accredited by the Engineer’s Council for Professional Development.

The Pittsburgh native had celebrated his golden anniversary as a member of the Society of Mary early last year. He died in Good Samaritan Hospital Dec. 27. Survivors include his brother, Bro. William Wehrle, head of the UD English department.

ENGAGEMENTS

Thomas A. Brobeck, ’54, to Carol Ann Hamlin, June 23.
Vincent C. Malloy, Jr., ’54, to Donna Joanne Dieringer, summer wedding.
Charles Edward Nahm, Jr., ’55 to Anne Elizabeth Kramer, June wedding.
Lt. Thomas Nyhan, ’55, to Nadine Joan Schmidt.

WEDDINGS

James Richard Braun, ’55, married Constance Youngman, ’55, Holy Family Church, November 5.
John R. Sheller, ’55, married Mildred Louise Martin, Holy Name Church, Tren- ton, in November.
Dwayne Gaynor Smith, ’54, married Louise DiPasquale, Corpus Christi Church, December 3.
Sidney H. Stanoel, ’55 married Janet Lee White, Holy Angels Church, February 11.
Joseph Pierre Wack, ’49, married Marguerite Marie Murray, Notre Dame de Lourdes Church, St. Louis, October 22.
Rita Ann Wittmann, ’53, married Patrick E. Muller, St. Anthony Church, December 31.
Jack Wymer, ’55 married Darlene Ann Sorber, Greenmont-Oak Park Church, November 5.

BIRTHS

Third child, first son, John A., to Mr. and Mrs. John C. Anderson, ’54, (Frances Shay, ’52), at Rolla, Mo., Nov. 11.
Son to Mr. and Mrs. Dale Babionc, ’50 (Anne Griffin, ’51) in January.
Sixth child, third daughter, Patricia Louise, to Dr. and Mrs. Robert J. Becksted, ’43, October 12.
Fifth child, third son, Stephen Michael, to Mr. and Mrs. Charles Bosseh, ’34, December 28.
Son, Gregory Charles, to Mr. and Mrs. Louis Bolton, ’59, December 9.
Second child, daughter, Mary Eileen, to Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Bury, ’62, December 16.
First child, daughter, to Mr. and Mrs. John Callahan, ’51, in December.
Daughter, Carol Ann, to Mr. and Mrs. Gordon H. Chenez, ’54, in South Bend, Ind., November 1.
Son to Mr. and Mrs. Nick Cukowich, ’50 (Marjorie Wittmann, ’50) in January.
Son, Theodore Raymond, to Mr. and Mrs. Robert Cohan, ’50 (Marjanna Recher, ’48), December 21.
First child, first daughter, Barbara Carol, to Dr. and Mrs. Thomas H. Cron, ’48, December 22.
First child, son, John William, to Mr. and Mrs. John F. Deffner, ’51, in Chicago, October 2.
Son to Dr. and Mrs. Robert Deger, ’34, in November.
Fourth child, third son, Peter Frederick, to Mr. and Mrs. John Ernst, ’50, December 15.
Third child, second son, John Ralph, to Mr. and Mrs. Dale Etzler, ’47 (Kathryn Kunke), ’44 in Cincinnati, December 7.
First child, daughter, to Mr. and Mrs. Sylvester Eveslage (Mary Margaret Fahey, ’54) in November.
Third child, Michael, to Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Ewing, ’51, November 26.
Daughter to Mr. and Mrs. James Fullweiler (Margaret Anne Caulfield, ’54) in January.
Son, John Joseph, to Mr. and Mrs. John Garneau, ’50, December 15.
First child, daughter, Barbara Lynn, to Mr. and Mrs. Richard E. Hageman, ’52, December 2.
Second child, son, to Mr. and Mrs. Richard Hazen, ’53, in November.
Third daughter, Sandra Jo, to Mr. and Mrs. John P. Hogan, Jr., ’50, October 18.
Daughter, Maria Victoria, to Mr. and Mrs. Jorge Nunez Hurtado, ’50, September 24.
Fourth child, third daughter, Janet Sue, to Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Israel, ’43, November 11.
First child, daughter, Marsha Sue, to Dr. and Mrs. Raymond Kahn, ’40, December 25.
Son to Dr. and Mrs. Richard F. Kelly, ’43, in December.
Fifth child, first son, to Mr. and Mrs. John C. Keys, ’48, November 3.
First child, daughter, Mary Katherine, to Lt. and Mrs. William A. Little, ’53, in Lawton, Okla., November 3.
Second child, first daughter, Mary Jo, to Mr. and Mrs. Eric McCarty (Vera Seiler, ’50), November 29.
Twin boys to Mr. and Mrs. Bill McKinley, ’50, in Pittsburgh in January.
First child, daughter, Anne Marie, to Mr. and Mrs. Donald High, '42 (Sue Martin, '42), October 2.
Third child, second son, Stephen Paul, to Mr. and Mrs. Raymond E. Montgomery, '50, in Louisville, Ky., December 21. Daughter to Mr. and Mrs. Clete Oberst, '52, in December.
Daughter to Mr. and Mrs. Gerald O'Connell, January 23.
Third child, second daughter, Susan Marie, to Mr. and Mrs. Bernard Otten, '51, December 31. First child, daughter, Catherine Ellen, to Mr. and Mrs. Jack Pruza, '52, in St. Louis, Mo., December 4.
Third child, second son, Timothy Mark, to Mr. and Mrs. Roy Rieger, '51, December 7.
First child, son, Kevin Joseph, to Mr. and Mrs. John Riley, '52, in December.
Daughter to Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Schell, '50, in December.
Daughter, Cathy Elaine, to Mr. and Mrs. Robert Shanz (Bonnie Winckelman, '47), November 11.
First child, daughter, Rebecca Ann, to Mr. and Mrs. Michael T. Smith, '53, (Ann Utz, '53), October 10.
First child, son, to Mr. and Mrs. Bartk Snyder, '34 (Julie Timmer, '34, in November.
Son to Mr. and Mrs. Clement Spradley, '50, in January.
Second child, first son, Clement Charles, to Mr. and Mrs. Al Suttman, '48 (Patricia Justice, '48), July 10.
Fourth child, second daughter, Joy Ann, to Dr. and Mrs. Robert Swartzel, December 28.
Daughter to Mr. and Mrs. John Thalheimer, '46, in November.
First child, daughter, Ann, to Mr. and Mrs. Richard C. Walsh (Mary Ann Richards, '51) in Milwaukee, Wis., December 19.
Second child, daughter, to Mr. and Mrs. Norman Weber, '52, in January.
Fourth child, third daughter, Susan Marie, to Mr. and Mrs. William C. Zanggelein, '52, December 7. O., is now in Alice, Ore.
1924
Ed Van Arnhem continues with the Defense Department as adviser to the chief chemical officer.
C. G. Scharf is manager of personnel relations with Union Carbide International Co. in New York.
Frank W. Williams is chief engineer with the Kett Corporation in Cincinnati.
1925
Father Christopher Murray is pastor of Sacred Heart Church in Lawrenceburg, Tenn.
1926
Matthew E. Keller, living in La Grange, Ill., is manager of the gravure and flexographic division of the Howard Flint Ink Co. in Chicago.
1927
James M. Foz is living in Detroit.
Paul P. McClellan has left Old Greenwich, Conn., is now residing in Houston, Tex.
1928
Tom Ryan has been re-elected chief Barker of the Dayton Variety Club.
Thomas E. Gallagher is now assistant to the vice president of Alloy Engineering and Testing Co. in Champaign, Ill.
1929
Mrs. Helen Bowman has transferred from the Commerce Department to the Department of Health, Education and Welfare in Washington.
1930
Col. and Mrs. Nelson 1. Decker are stationed at the Army Chemical Center in Maryland.
Lt. Col. Maurice Costello and family are at Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska. He's petroleum officer for the Alaskan Command.
Col. Eldon Koerner is a student again—this time at the Industrial College of the Armed Forces at Fort McNair, Washington, D.C.
1931
Dr. Edwin D. Flanagan, MD, is in Clinton, Conn.
1935
John G. Maupin is director of speech arts at Xavier University.
David Weinberg is practicing law in Dayton.
1936
James S. Spatz has been named executive vice president of the Institute of Real Estate Management in Chicago. He formerly held a similar position on the Dayton Real Estate Board.
1937
Martin J. Hildenbrand is still in the foreign service. His address is U.S. Embassy, USRO, APO 230, New York, N.Y.
Five civil engineering graduates of the class are planning a reunion for the 1937 homecoming. The five are Joe Fletcher of Dayton, Jack O'Brien of St. Petersburg, Fla., Tex Moore of Albuquerque, Bob Gates of Fort Lauderdale and Jack Buterbaugh of Centerville. They lay claim to a praiseworthy record and challenge any class record—twenty-seven children among them.
Father Nicholas Negola is at St. Joseph's Church, Mendiham, N.J.
1938
Dick Bucher, along with Tom Sheets ('50) is active in the Dayton Ski-Bees.
1939
After fifteen years with Univis Lens, Tom Maker is now manager of the new Dayton office of Manpower, Inc.
Fred George has taken over as head coach at Cleveland Cathedral Latin. At a recent meeting in Chicago, Wil­liam S. Fitzpatrick was elected vice president of the Central Supply Association.
Major Roland W. Myers is now in Bethesda, Md.
1940
Larry D. Fink is living in Owego, N.Y.
Bill Hill is endeavoring to organize alumni in Puerto Rico.
Charles B. Hoppa is with Westinghouse Atomic Research.
Charles G. Wolf is residing in Swarthmore, Pa.
1941
Clarke V. Kirby has been appointed to direct kitchen modernization activity at Frigidaire.
Bill Sherman has been named president of the newly formed Sherman-Standard Register Foundation.
Melvin A. Nellis is with the International Inspection and Testing Corporation in Osaka, Japan.
Martin Mittel is in the ready-mix concrete business in Mansfield, O.
Robert Q. Jones is manager of advertising and sales promotion for Frigidaire stores in Baltimore. He's living in Towson, Md.
After five years at Wright-Patterson, Maj. Gustav J. Akerland is now at the Air Research and Development Command in Baltimore.
Joseph Wahlschlaeger, residing in Wilmette, Ill., is assistant to the operations vice president of the Misco Corporation in Chicago.
1942
Herbert Morris has changed his residence from Beacon, N.Y., to Groves, Tex.
Jack Brennan of Philadelphia was a recent campus visitor.
Eugene L. Slanker is chief development engineer with the Buckeye Tools Corporation in Dayton.
Bob Butler has opened a new heating and air conditioning store in Dayton.
Earl Gieseman, Jr., is living in Tullahoma, Tenn.
Mary Ann Hoyt Kurtz is back in Dayton.
1943
Dr. Walter B. Rugh has opened offices in Mariemont (Cincinnati) for the practice of obstetrics and gynecology. Mrs. Rugh is Betty Carlton, '45.
Dr. Robert E. Hencock is in Piqua, O.
Dr. George E. Thoma, Jr., is in Clay­ton, Mo.
John W. Wroe is back in Dayton.
Jose L. Capacete has resigned as acting dean of the school of engineering at the University of Puerto Rico and is now president of the Foundation Engineering Co. of Puerto Rico. He was recently elected president of the Puerto Rico Institute of Engineers and Architects.
1945
Kathryn Burns MacCallum recently received a master of education degree from Miami University.
1946
Thomas M. Myers, residing in Albuquerque, is a staff member of the Sandia Corporation.

Class Notes

1909
Herbert E. Whalen, Sr., has retired as general agent of Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance in Dayton, and son Herbert, Jr., (ex '38) has taken over.
1915
Leon Anderson is residing in Richmond, Calif., and is working with the Atlas Powder Co.
1916
Leo D. Krieger has moved from Portsmouth to Cincinnati.
1920
J. E. Payne is now residing in Bellport, Long Island, N.Y.
1922
R. A. Pauly, formerly of Springfield,
Class Notes—con’t

Fred Henne has joined K. M. Reik and Associates, Cincinnati consulting engineers.

1947

C. David Etzler of Cincinnati was a recent campus visitor.

Don E. Ruhi was named Montgomery County chairman of the 1956 Crusade for Freedom.

1948

John and Pat Ralph (’40) Wilker are in Long Beach, Calif., with their three children. John is military sales manager with Douglas Aircraft.

Carl Ewald, Jr., is living in Canton, O.

1949

Capt. Edward Gerwe is working in special projects with Westinghouse.

Will E. Griffin is in the engineering department of the Crosley division of AVCO in Evendale.

Robert L. Young, living in Bellmawr, N.J., is group representative in Philadelphia for the Occidental Life Insurance Co. of California.

Anne Huffman Wheeler and lieutenant husband are living in Fort Lewis, Wash. They adopted a son, J eb Owen, last May in Germany. They recently met Major Harrigan, former UD ROTC instructor, at the base.

Receiving degrees at Ohio State in December were Mattie Waugh McDonald, master of arts, and Glen Mumpower, bachelor of laws.

William Wheelock was promoted to supervisor in proposition engineering with General Electric in Massachusetts.

Living in Akron is James J. Gill, Harold H. Selz is living in Naples, Fla.

1950

Dan Murphy is in Phoenix, Ariz., with Air Research, Inc.

James F. Petry is vice president of Kissell Realty Co. in Toledo.

Recent issue of the National Baton Twirling Association magazine ran a full-page picture of Bob Dawson, describing him as “one of twirling’s all-time great personalities.”

Steve and Joan Roderer (’47) Vargo are stationed at the Bremerhaven American School, APO 69, New York.

Eugene Johnston, DO, now back in Dayton with the Wac Engineering Co.

Dr. Thomas D. Foster is in Trotwood, O.; Ray Tischer, Jr., is in Spring Valley, O.; in Memphis, Tenn., is Kenneth Poling.

Tom Hoffeld is in Dearborn, Mich., and Capt. Carl J. Sachs, Jr., is in Pasadena, Calif.

Bro. Robert Kelly, CSC, is teaching at St. Edward High School, Lakewood.

John and Helen Hitch (’49) Petry are residing in Dayton.

Bill Hulsopple is working on his PhD at Ohio State, majoring in theater.

Richard V. DeMay, coach of West Elkton High School basketball.

Louis F. Bolton has been separated from the Air Force, is now in Dayton with Delee.

1951

Thomas C. Graul, MD, is at University of Wisconsin Hospital.

Robert D. Kem Leonard is residing in Cuyahoga Falls, O.

J. Francis Wehner is with the Chemical Engineering Department at Catholic University, Washington, D.C.

Carmel and Edna Pfeiffer (’50) Clune are in Los Angeles in government service.

John Arbogast is with the Champion Paper Co. in Hamilton.

John F. Deffner is living in Melrose Park, Ill. Thomas P. Mullaney is in Macon, Ga. Lynn L. Showalter Hafsiuer is in Cleveland.

Arnold Kowalsky is residing in Greenville, Mich.

1952

Leo Carver, with a master’s degree in hospital administration, is interning at Newton General Hospital, Newton, Mass.

Ronald Berg, discharged from the Navy, is residing in Lombard, Ill.

Paul P. Ohmer, Jr., is in Gary, Ind.

Clayton Gantner is teaching in the Dayton public school system.

Margaret W. Hurt, now with Kettering schools, has completed her eleventh year of teaching.

Daniel Beverley Miller is medical and surgical instructor at Deaconess Hospital, Cincinnati.

John V. Koverman is a personal representative for H. R. Mosser, oil interests, with offices in Houston, Tex. He recently visited the campus.

Don Leffler is teaching in Durand, Mich.

Selvin Brooks has been promoted to junior engineer at AC Spark Plug Division in Milwaukee.

Mary Ruth Hofferbert McFarland is clinic director at St. Elizabeth Hospital in Dayton.

Receiving degrees from Ohio State in December were George Ryschkewitsch, doctor of philosophy, and James S. Sasaia, BS in agriculture.

1953

Howard Overly was awarded a master of arts degree at Ohio State in December.

Rolland Lafayette is teaching at Bristol High School, Bristol, VT.

John B. Reeve is living in Medway, O. Kathryn V. Dale Krouton is in Lima, O. Charles K. Neil is in Muncie, Ind., and Hold J. Eyvaz is in Riverside, Ill.

Richard L. Miller is history instructor and junior high basketball coach at Greenhills school, Cincinnati.

John Culhane, serving at Fort Dix, has been promoted to first lieutenant.

2d Lt. Joseph Carter recently was graduated from the infantry officers course at Fort Benning.

E. Stewart is teaching art in Dayton schools.

1954

Robert A. Lowden has been named instructor in real estate at University of Pittsburgh.

Dave and Pat Radican (’53) Ford are in St. Petersburg, Fla., where Dave is in hospital administration.

Roger Keith tied for top grade in a chemical engineering examination for engineer-in-training registration with the

$2,500,000 CAMPAIGN

Continued

WHY TWO BUILDINGS?

standard. If 180,000 square feet is added with the erection of the chemistry and science buildings, and enrollment rises to the predicted 4,000 day students, the average per student will still be only 148 square feet.

In presenting this picture, I have treated only one phase of a school administrator’s work, his problem of where to put his students. I have emphasized the need for material expansion. Such material expansion means financial resources and the buildings which such resources can erect. The real issue, however, is a deeper one. It concerns human development. This development goes hand in hand with the development of the whole person, one of the greatest gifts is the human mind. That mind must not stand still. A static mind would have given us the ideals, the civilization, the living conditions of thousands of years. We are proud of the progress humanity has made. At the University of Dayton, the real problem is a share in greater progress. It has contributed its part in the past. What will it be permitted to do in the future?

NEW BUILDINGS

By Bro. Austin J. Holian, SM

Business Manager of the University

The proposed new Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Bldg. and the Science Bldg. will provide the university with sorely-needed space for students in those fields.

Included in the chemistry building will be facilities for the chemistry, chemical engineering and geology departments. It will be a concrete frame structure with exterior brick harmonizing with the newer buildings on the campus.

The four floors of the basement will comprise approximately 90,000 square feet. Facilities for the three departments are planned so that they will be adequate when the university reaches the predicted enrollment of 4,000 full-time day students and 3,000 night students.

There will be fourteen rooms for lectures, seminars and classes, twenty-six laboratories and a library.

Research laboratories are planned for graduate work as well as for servicing the needs of neighboring chemical industries. All the laboratories are to be independent ventilated.

Also to be included in the building are thirty-seven rooms for use of the faculty and staff as offices and conference rooms.

Adequate store rooms and preparation rooms for chemical laboratories will be provided on each floor.

One of the lecture rooms will have tiered seats for 300 persons. This room will be able to be used not only for chemistry lectures, but also for conventions and public meetings without interfering with the educational functions of the building.

The Science Bldg. is being designed to house five departments in the division of science: biology, home economics, mathematics, physics and psychology.

The exterior also will harmonize with newer buildings on the campus, being built of reinforced concrete with brick facing. The three floors and basement will provide approximately 80,000 square feet of area which will be allocated to thirty laboratories, eight lecture rooms (the largest of which will seat 138 students), eight classrooms, forty-six office and conference rooms for use of faculty and Dean, several clinics for psychology, a nursery for the home economics department and rooms for service in all departments.

The top floor will house a library for the five departments sufficiently large to accommodate over 30,000 volumes and provide study tables and desks for about sixty students.
Craig Named To Office With Westinghouse

A University of Dayton alumnus has been named a vice president of the Westinghouse Electric Corporation and general manager of its electric appliance divisions.

He is John W. Craig, a member of the class of 1929. A native of Troy, O., Mr. Craig received a bachelor of science degree from UD and began his career shortly after graduation as a refrigeration engineer with Frigidaire in Dayton.

From that time on, it was one administrative position after another until his Westinghouse appointment in December.

He became assistant chief refrigerating engineer of the Crosley Corporation in 1937 and advanced to chief in 1940. In 1945, he became a division manager of the Crosley division of Avco and three years later became vice president and general manager of the division.

In 1953, Mr. Craig served as president and chief executive officer of Aluminum Industries, Inc., a post he held until elected vice president and general manager of RCA Victor home appliances in 1954. He also served as vice president of the Whirlpool-Seeger Corporation.

During the course of his work, Mr. Craig acquired a number of patents on refrigerating apparatus and ordnance fire control equipment. In World War II, he was awarded the Navy Bureau of Ordnance Development Award for his development of fire control equipment.

At the June, 1949, commencement exercises, the principal address was delivered by Mr. Craig.

In 1928, Mr. Craig married Thelma Stevens, also of Troy. They have one daughter, Mrs. Frank Wilhoit, of Washington, D.C. The Craigs now reside in Mansfield, O.

Grad Holds High Post With Trade Group

Being a wife, mother and hostess, it seems, would keep any normal woman busy.

But Miriam Losh Chalfant, '41, combines these duties with a full-time job and appears to thrive on it.

Miriam, who received a bachelor of science degree in education from UD, summa cum laude, is executive secretary of the Midwest International Trade Development Center in Cincinnati, a group which serves the entire Midwest as a clearing house for commercial contacts between this area and the rest of the world.

As executive secretary, Miriam arranges tours for foreign visitors, acts as hostess to them on tours and entertains visitors in her home. In fact, that home at times has taken on the appearance of a "little United Nations." She's had guests from almost thirty different foreign countries.

Her background, both as a student at UD and after graduation, has particularly suited her for her present duties. She's always been interested in world affairs—her activity in UD's International Relations Club being one of the important factors which started her on the road to her present position. She has been active in church and civic work in both her native Dayton and Cincinnati, serving on women's clubs committees, PTA groups and the Women's Society of Christian Service of the Methodist church.

She's also taken part in the experiment in international living, the children's international summer village, child conservation league and the council of church women.

Married in 1942 to Howard E. Chalfant, an engineer, she has two children, Norman, 11, and Gregory, 8. When the boys are a little older, Miriam hopes to lead trade missions in Latin America.

The Chalfants reside at 5445 Sidney rd., Cincinnati.

Alumnus In 13th Year As Vice President Of Firm

"Nothing dramatic, but most interesting for me" is the way Lawrence W. Strattner, '18, describes his days since leaving St. Mary's Institute with a bachelor of chemical engineering degree tucked under his arm and heading for New York.

Perhaps not dramatic—if working one's way to the vice-presidency of a large paper company could be considered "not dramatic", but it will be agreed, most interesting.

Mr. Strattner went to work with the West Virginia Pulp and Paper Co. in Mechanicville, N.Y., in 1916 as assistant to the superintendent of the electrolytic chlorine plant. In 1943, he became vice president of the company.

In the meantime, he held a number of other positions with the company—superintendent of the electrolytic chlorine and the acetone plants and superintendent of finishing operations. In 1942, he was transferred to the company's head office in New York as assistant to the executive vice president. In a matter of months, he was appointed to the vice-presidency.

Interesting sidelights in his work included serving for several months with the National Production Authority in the chemical, rubber and forest products bureau, and a trip to Europe to get a first-hand look at the pulp and paper situation in England and on the continent. There he arranged for the sale of the company's products aboard, its first entry into export markets.

Mr. Strattner served as president of the Rotary Club and Saratoga Council of Boy Scouts while in Mechanicville and has acted in various capacities with the Red Cross, Chamber of Commerce and other groups.

Married in 1915 to Marie Wenz of Dayton, the alumnus has five children and thirteen living grandchildren.

He expects to retire next March.
Class Notes—con’t

state. He is continuing his study toward a master’s degree at University of Cincinnati.

William Davidson is on the comptroller’s staff with Chrysler Corporation in Detroit.

Charles Lee is a law student at St. Louis University and is working with a St. Louis insurance agency.

Gordon Chenez is in the patent department of Bendix in South Bend.

Richard L. Stewart is with Standard Register in Dayton as senior cost estimator.

Shirley Ackermann is working in Fort Lauderdale, Fla., as chief nurse for three urologists.

2d Lt. Pat Muldoon and wife are in Panama.

Dick Finan is at Fort Sam Houston, Tex., in the intelligence section of Fourth Army headquarters.

2d Lt. Andy Zulli is in Germany.

Recent graduates of the infantry officers course at Fort Benning were Richard E. Weidner, Kenneth P. Wenstrup, Robert A. Schmid, Neil R. McDonald, Kenneth L. Lackey and Ronald G. Weiser, all second lieutenants.

2d Lt. Leland Zimmerlin was named outstanding graduate of a recent mess administration course at Fort Benning.

1955

Sister M. Carmelina Rice, SPSF, is at St. Elizabeth Hospital, Covington, Ky.

Lauraano Jose Carus is attached to the Detroit arsenal in Michigan.

2d Lt. Richard J. Daum recently was graduated from the infantry officers course at Fort Benning.

John T. Becker, serving at Fort Dix, was promoted to first lieutenant.

2d Lt. Charles Barker has completed military police officers course at Camp Gordon, Ga.

Campus Notes

Bro. Paul's cafeteria in the arcade has a new look. It's been done over in pink and has colorful new drapes.

At a recent graduation of engineering licenses to successful candidates of the July state exams, Bro. Andrew Weber received a citation and plaque for his work in engineering education from the Dayton Society of Professional Engineers.

Keeping pace with the times, the evening division has inaugurated a sixteen-week course in office automation. Top experts from across the country are serving as lecturers.

George Humm, '40, is chairman of an investment workshop also being held during the current semester of evening classes.

Rewiring of St. Mary's Hall is nearing completion. It will result in more modern and better lighting of classrooms and offices.

An impressive color portrait of the late Martin C. Kuntz, Sr., '22, now is prominently displayed in the lobby of the fieldhouse. A bronze plaque beneath the portrait pays tribute to Mr. Kuntz as "alumnus and benefactor whose leadership inspired friends of the university to erect this fieldhouse."

UD got another trophy recently when the Fisher Body Craftsman's Guild presented a 27-inch trophy to the school in honor of Milton Antonick of Mount Vernon, O., a sophomore in the technical institute. Milton won the grand national prize in the guild's 1955 model car competition.

Father Lawrence Monheim of the religion department has been assigned as assistant pastor at the Marianists' newly acquired Emmanuel parish in downtown Dayton.

Several alumni and friends have been sending us newspaper clippings from around the country about the Flyers' exploits. We appreciate these and can always use more. So when you see the university mentioned in your hometown papers, how about clipping the story and mailing it to us?

Ford Foundation Grant of $406,600
To Be Used For Faculty Salaries

"I wish to acknowledge with sincerest thanks the Ford Foundation's most generous grant to the University of Dayton."

Thus wrote the Very Rev. Andrew L. Seebold, SM, UD president, to Mr. William McPeak, vice president of the Ford Foundation, upon notification in December that the university was to receive a grant of $406,600, part of the historic $500 million grant to colleges and hospitals across the country.

"The Administration of the University is particularly grateful," Father Seebold continued, "because your generous grant will aid us in continuing . . . increases in salaries . . . and help us to plan higher levels in this area in the years to come . . ."

Interest from the grant, which may total somewhat more or less than the announced figure, is to be used specifically for increases in faculty salaries. Exact time that these increases will be effected is not definite. Disbursements of the grant are expected to be made over an eighteen-month period, with the first payments due in June.

A new salary scale for the university's faculty went into effect last July. At the same time, a retirement and insurance program also became operative.

Amounts of the grants were based on the approximate 1954-55 payrolls of the colleges and universities involved. The grants will be on an endowment basis for ten years, during which time only the income may be used. After that period, the principal and income may be used for any purpose. Income from the gift is expected to amount to about $15,000 annually.

It was first believed that the university would be required to match the Ford gift. However, the foundation said at the time of the announcement of the grants that this was not a requirement.

The $500 million total grant to all the colleges and hospitals was the largest single appropriation in the history of philanthropy.

At the time the gifts were announced, a statement from the Ford Foundation stated that "in the opinion of the Foundation's trustees, private and corporate philanthropy can make no better investment of its resources than in helping to strengthen American education at its base—the quality of its teaching . . ."

The foundation was established by the late Henry Ford in 1936 for "the advancement of human welfare." It is the largest of some 7,000 such organizations in the country. It is currently governed by a thirteen-man board of trustees, presided over by Henry Ford II, grandson of the founder.

Magazine Evaluated
By Alumni Group

The UD ALUMNUS received an average to good rating in a recent evaluation of the magazine by the American Alumni Council.

Based on the March, June and September (1955) issues, the evaluation gave highest scores in layouts, press work and readability, with top score in editorial content.

Also appraised were covers, table of contents, placement of contents, heads, type and illustrations. Total score earned was 88.3 points from a possible 100.

News "tips" from alumni and suggestions will help the magazine to garner an even higher rating for the next period.
We feel sure every Alumnus of the University of Dayton will want to have a hand in the $2,500,000 campaign for a new Chemistry-Chemical Engineering Building and a new Science Building, officially announced in this issue for the month of May.

Inasmuch as our Alumni organization is so far flung, and inasmuch as our campaigning time is short, it would greatly expedite our organization plans to know where we might look for help in carrying forward whatever Alumni plans are developed by the campaign leadership.

Those charged with the responsibility for our campaign are engaged now in working out an official plan. It will be up to us to do our part to make the plan work.

It would be a gesture of wonderful encouragement to the outsiders who are giving their time to the leadership of this campaign to know they have the solid support and enthusiasm of the Alumni family. It is this thought which prompts the coupon below.

Edwin G. Becker—Cincinnati, Ohio
Merle P. Smith—Dayton, Ohio
Co-Chairmen on Alumni Division
University of Dayton Campaign

I would be glad to be on call during the early part of May to make personal contacts in behalf of the University of Dayton's $2,500,000 Building Fund Campaign. I shall stand by for instructions from the campaign headquarters office.

Signed ________________________________
Address ________________________________

Note: Above coupon as well as any personal note of appreciation to the chairman of the Building Fund Campaign, as announced herein, may be addressed to: University of Dayton Campaign Headquarters, Biltmore Hotel, Dayton 2, Ohio.